SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-662

SHANA BARNES,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT CASE NO. 1D04-5450

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, FL 32503 (850) 475-1211 (850) 475-1290 (fax) Irosenbloum@rosenbloumlaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Shana Barnes ("defendant") seeks review of a decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, which affirmed her conviction and sentence for second-degree murder with a firearm in the shooting death of her husband. In this brief, defendant will cite the nine-volume record on appeal by designation "R" followed by the volume number. The trial transcript is located in Volumes IV-IX. Defendant will cite the appendix accompanying this brief by designation "App." with the appropriate tab number.

Factual Background

On the evening of July 15, 2000, Shana Barnes, then age 36, and her husband of fifteen years, Gregory Barnes, visited a tattoo parlor after work and then dined at Applebee's Restaurant on Atlantic Boulevard in Jacksonville. (R-IV 196; R-V 228-29). In her written statement given to detectives, defendant stated that her husband drove her home about 9:30 p.m. and told her he was going to "his friend Frank's" to watch a boxing match on television. (R-V 228-29). When her husband had not returned home by 2:00 a.m., she called him on his cell phone twice but received no reply. (R-V 229). Mr. Barnes arrived home about 2:30 a.m., parked their Infiniti automobile in the garage and went into a second bedroom to

undress. (R-V 229). Defendant noticed that her husband was "wobbling"¹ and asked him why he had not called to tell her he would be late. (R-V 229). Mr. Barnes told his wife he would talk about it in the morning and went through the master bedroom and into the bathroom. (R-V 229). Defendant pressed her husband for an answer but he told her "he was grown and he did not have to call." (R-V 229).

According to defendant's statement, Mr. Barnes then pushed her violently onto the bed in the master bedroom and began choking her. (R-V 229). In the ensuing struggle, she bit his hand and possibly his arm and drew blood. (R-V 229-30). Defendant grabbed a fanny pack from the headboard which contained a gun, but Mr. Barnes snatched it from her. (R-V 230). She then dialed 911 from the bedside telephone but her husband took the telephone and hung it up. (R-V 229). He then pushed defendant face down onto to the floor and left the room. (R-V 230).

Defendant decided at that point to leave the house. She grabbed her purse and the gun from the fanny pack which she knew was loaded.² (R-V 230). She

¹ Defendant told the 911 dispatcher after the shooting that her husband "came home very drunk." (R-IV 82). The autopsy revealed a .16% blood alcohol level. (R-V 380).

 $^{^{2}}$ According to the crime scene technician, the weapon used to shoot Mr. Barnes was a .38 caliber revolver, not the .40 caliber revolver kept in the fanny pack. (R-

told the detectives in her statement that she took the gun because she was probably going to drive downtown at 2:30 a.m. and "because Greg had never become physically violent at that level with me and I did not know what he might do next." (R-V 230). She then walked down the hall and retrieved her keys and cell phone from the kitchen. (R-V 230). Mr. Barnes was standing at the door leading to the garage which he had opened, and he also had opened the garage door itself. (R-V 230). Defendant then returned to the master bedroom to get her shoes and, as she walked past her husband into the garage, he was cursing at her. (R-V 230). Defendant told Detective Dwayne Darnell that her husband called her a "bitch." (R-V 218). Defendant described the ensuing events as follows:

> I got in the car which was parked in the garage. The front windows were down. I started backing out of the garage and he was saying something, I'm not sure what. As I was backing out I stopped to hear what he was saying. I locked the doors and attempted to put the windows up. However, he came to the driver's side window. He slapped me through the open window on my cheek. I reached for the gun which was sitting on the passenger seat. I picked it up and fired it out the driver's window. I heard him hit the front of the car on the windshield and I saw blood. He then slumped down.

> I continued to pull out of the garage so I could see what happened. I got out of the car and saw Greg lying on the ground with blood. I screamed and went to the car and got my cell phone. I had put the gun back on the

IV 120-22). According to defendant's testimony from the first trial which the State read to the jury, both weapons were kept in the master bedroom. (R-VI 438).

seat. I called 911 and stayed on the phone with them until the police arrived.

My objective to having the gun in the car was not to kill Greg, I only wanted to scare him so I could leave and protect myself.

 $(R-V 230-31).^{3}$

Course of Proceedings in the Lower Tribunals

The State charged defendant with second-degree murder and discharging a firearm during the commission of the crime. (R-I 8). Defendant was tried before a jury on April 22 through April 24, 2002, at which time she testified that she shot her husband in self-defense. (R-VI 452-53). Nevertheless, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges. (R-I 60). Defendant received a twenty-seven year sentence with a twenty-five year minimum mandatory term for the firearms charge as required by section 775.087(2)(A)3., Florida Statutes. (R-I 63-64). The First District, however, reversed defendant's conviction and sentence and remanded for a new trial "because the jury instructions on the issue of self-defense were confusing, misleading, and erroneous." <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 868 So. 2d 606, 607 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) ("<u>Barnes I</u>") (App. at Tab 2).

³ Consistent with defendant's statement, a neighbor testified that she was awakened in the early morning hours of July 16, 2000, when she heard a gunshot followed in twenty or thirty seconds by a woman's scream which she described as "blood curdling, like a terror scream." (R-VI 528-29).

Only a few days before the retrial began on October 4, 2004, the prosecutor advised defense counsel that the State planned to read defendant's testimony from the first trial to the jury. (R-II 385). Although defendant conceded that her testimony from the first trial was admissible, she argued by motion in limine that portions of her prior testimony were inadmissible and should be excluded. (R-II 205-15). After conducting a hearing on the first day of trial (R-II 385-400; R-III 401-85), the trial court granted defendant's motion in limine, in part, requiring the State to redact several objectionable portions from the transcript of defendant's prior testimony which it planned to publish to the jury. (R-II 205).

During that same hearing, the State announced its intention to offer the transcript of defendant's prior testimony into evidence as an exhibit available to the jury during deliberations. (R-II 389-90). Defense counsel objected to permitting the jury to take the transcript into the jury room because "[w]hat you're doing is putting [a]n unfair emphasis on this one aspect of the testimony." (R-III 392). The prosecutor argued that a transcript of the defendant's prior trial testimony is no different from a transcript of a statement given by the defendant to a detective at the police station. (R-II 391). The trial judge agreed with the State and ruled preliminarily that he would allow the transcript into evidence as an exhibit. (R-II 393).

Before the State read defendant's prior testimony to the jury, defense counsel renewed his objection to admitting the transcript into evidence as an exhibit available to the jury during deliberations because "it's the only trial testimony that the jury will have in front of them and they therefore give it undue weight and too much attention compared to all the other evidence in the case. Especially when they have heard it read by question and answer here in the courtroom." (R-VI 426). The prosecutor argued that "it is important for the jury to be able to have that and compare it [transcript of prior testimony] to her written statements to the police." (R-VI 427). The trial court confirmed its preliminary ruling and overruled defendant's objection. (R-VI 429).

The State read defendant's testimony from the first trial as planned. (R-VI 432-506) (App. at Tab 3). One assistant state attorney read the questions while another assistant played the role of Ms. Barnes by reading the answers.⁴ (R-VI 432). Later in the trial, the State offered the 75-page transcript of testimony into evidence. (R-VIII 641). Defense counsel again objected on the grounds previously stated. (R-VIII 642). The trial court overruled defendant's objection and admitted the transcript into evidence as an exhibit available to the jury during deliberations based on the following rationale:

⁴ The trial court entered an order in limine to prevent counsel from making any direct references to the first trial. (R-II 214). Counsel referred to defendant's testimony from the first trial as her "statement on April 24, 2002" or her "testimony from 2002." (R-IX 879, 889, 939, 952).

THE COURT: On the issue of state's quintuplet A for identification, while we are on that subject, I did in the previous ruling and I will again consider this to be not testimony in the trial but a sworn statement from Ms. Barnes containing admissions. It was made of course under oath and with counsel present in a situation where she voluntarily gave the testimony after being apprised of her rights and with all the procedural and substantive safeguards requisite for such a statement to be admissible. And I allowed it in on that basis.

I think the state could have just offered it as an exhibit and gotten it admitted that way. But they certainly have the right to offer an admissible document into evidence and then publish it to the jury which is what they did.

It was not Ms. Barnes sitting here and testifying live to the jury. It was just the reading or the publishing of this document.

So I do think it is a different situation from the state wanting to transcribe the testimony of their lead detective and send it back to the jury room with the jury.

So I will overrule again the objection to its admission.

(R-VIII 644-45). The jury received the transcript with the other exhibits when it

retired to deliberate. (R-IX 994).

In addition to reading defendant's prior testimony, the State played the tape recording of defendant's second 911 call and read her written statement to the jury. (R-IV 77; R-V 228-31). The State also presented evidence purportedly contradicting defendant's claim of self-defense, including evidence that she was not seriously injured during the alleged struggle with her husband (R-IV 89, 169-170, 193); the medical examiner did not find bite marks on Mr. Barnes' body or any other injuries except for the gunshot wound (R-V 384); defendant outweighed her husband by at least 18 pounds (R-V 246, 357); and there was no blood found in the car. (R-V 389).

The State also presented the testimony of Mr. Barnes's co-worker, Vera Christopher, who testified that she watched the boxing match at Donna Dowdell's house with Mr. Barnes, Donna and a neighbor and then accompanied Mr. Barnes to the Bombay Bicycle Club for drinking and dancing. (R-IV 70-72). Christopher testified that Mr. Barnes had "a couple of beers" and was not intoxicated when he took her home at midnight. (R-IV 72-73). She could not account for Mr. Barnes's whereabouts after midnight. (R-IV 75). The State did not present any evidence that defendant knew or even suspected that her husband had been with Ms. Christopher on the night in question.

Defendant did not testify during the second trial. However, she presented numerous witnesses from Modus where she was employed who testified that she enjoys an excellent reputation in the community for truthfulness and peacefulness. (R-VI 546, 586-87, 628, 677, 685). Additionally, one of the investigating officers, James Williams, testified that he found evidence of a struggle in the master bedroom and blood on the door to the garage which the State did not attempt to match. (R-V 294; R-VI 551-52). The medical examiner testified during the defense case that she has encountered strangulation victims with little, if any, visible evidence of an injury. (R-VII 606). Nevertheless, she identified a possible neck injury on a photograph of defendant taken after her arrest. (R-VII 606). Detective Darnell also noted during his testimony that defendant had a laceration on her upper lip and a scratch on her neck. (R-IV 193).

During closing and rebuttal arguments, the State made repeated references to defendant's testimony from the first trial which had been read to the jury and admitted into evidence in transcript form. (R-IX 879-80, 889-90, 939, 952, 967). For example, the prosecutor pointed out that in her written statement, defendant reported that the gun was on the seat of her car while in her prior testimony, she said the gun was in her purse. (R-IX 879-80). In rebuttal, the prosecutor emphasized that this discrepancy was a "critical distinction" (R-IX 952) and urged the jury to "[1]ook at the quotes in the transcript." (R-IX 961).

The jury returned a verdict finding defendant guilty of second-degree murder and discharging a firearm during the commission of the crime. (R-II 254). After denying defendant's motion for new trial and renewed motion for judgment of acquittal (R-Supp. 9, 12), the trial court sentenced defendant to twenty-seven years in prison with a twenty-five year minimum mandatory term. (R-II 260-61).

9

The First District affirmed the conviction and sentence in Barnes v. State, Case No. 1D04-5450 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 3, 2006) (Tab 1), reported at 922 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) ("Barnes II"). The First District addressed three of the five issues raised by defendant and held: (1) the trial court did not err by denying defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal; (2) the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing the jury to take the transcript of defendant's prior testimony into the jury room during deliberations; (3) the trial court did not confuse or mislead the jury with its instruction on duty to retreat and justifiable use of deadly force. On the first point, the district court found from the record "that the State presented the jury with adequate evidence supporting its theory that appellant shot and killed her husband in a fit of anger over his behavior on the night in question." Barnes II, 922 So. 2d at 381 (slip op. at 2). Regarding the transcript issue, the court explained:

> Appellant next argues that the trial judge erred by allowing the jury to take an exhibit containing portions of Appellant's prior testimony into the jury room. Appellant argues that this constituted error because the jury might have placed greater emphasis on Appellant's prior testimony than it did on other witness testimony. <u>See Young v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 1994). We review the admission or exclusion of evidence for an abuse of discretion. <u>See McBride v. State</u>, 913 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). The trial judge properly admitted the statements in question as an exhibit of numerous admissions made by the Appellant. <u>See Delacruz v. State</u>, 734 So. 2d 1116, 1122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (finding that defendant's prior statements, whether

exculpatory or not, were admissible against defendant as admissions under section 90.803(18), Florida Statutes (citing Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 803.18, at 733-34 (1999 ed.)). The fact that the State published the exhibit to the jury does not turn the exhibit into "testimony." Accordingly, the trial judge acted within his discretion to allow the jury to take the exhibit into the jury room. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400(a)(4) (permitting the judge to allow "all things received into evidence other than depositions" into the jury room).

<u>Id</u>. at 382 (slip op. at 3).

Defendant thereafter sought discretionary review in this court, alleging jurisdictional conflict on all three issues addressed by the First District. By order dated January 22, 2007, this court accepted "jurisdiction of this case as to the First District Court of Appeal's opinion with respect to permitting the jury to take an exhibit into the jury room." <u>Barnes v. State</u>, No. SC06-662 (Fla. Jan. 22, 2007).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY PERMITTING THE JURY IN DEFENDANT'S SECOND TRIAL TO TAKE A TRANSCRIPT OF DEFENDANT'S TESTIMONY FROM THE FIRST TRIAL INTO THE JURY ROOM DURING DELIBERATIONS
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON THE CHARGE OF SECOND-DEGREE MURDER WITH A FIREARM

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

This court should quash the district court's decision based on the settled rule followed by Florida courts which prohibits the jury from taking testimonial transcripts into the jury room during deliberations. This rule prevents the jury from unduly emphasizing the transcript over the witness's oral testimony and other evidence presented during trial.

The court should reject the State's argument that the transcript of defendant's prior testimony was admissible as an exhibit because it contains defendant's admissions much like a statement or confession given by defendant to the police. The State's argument lacks merit because the State did not treat defendant's prior testimony as a statement or confession. Instead, the State read defendant's prior testimony to the jury in question and answer form as though defendant were actually testifying. As such, the trial court should have treated the transcript of defendant's prior testimony in the same manner as a deposition or transcript of live testimony, neither of which is permitted into the jury room during deliberations.

The district court incorrectly relied on Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.400(a)(4), which provides: "The court may permit the jury, upon retiring for deliberation, to take to the jury room: . . . (4) all things received in evidence other

13

than depositions." First, the trial court should not have received the transcript in evidence. Second, this court in <u>Young v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 1994), interpreted Rule 3.400(a)(4) to prohibit juror access to materials other than "depositions" (video presentations of live testimony). Third, because the State read defendant's prior testimony to the jury in question and answer form, it should be treated as a "deposition" under Rule 3.400(a)(4).

The trial court's error in permitting the jury to take the transcript of defendant's prior testimony into the jury room was not harmless because the State made the inconsistencies between defendant's written statement and her prior testimony read to the jury one of the focal points of its case. The State repeatedly emphasized these inconsistencies during closing argument and even urged the jury to "[1]ook at the quotes in the transcript." (R-IX 961).

II.

The trial court should have granted defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal on the charge of second-degree murder with a firearm. Although defendant admitted shooting her husband, the State's circumstantial evidence did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant acted with a depraved mind, <u>i.e.</u>, with ill will, hatred, spite or an evil intent, nor did the state prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant did not act in self-defense. Although the State proved that defendant's husband was out drinking and dancing with another

woman on the night in question, the State presented absolutely no evidence, circumstantial or otherwise, that defendant knew of her husband's whereabouts. Therefore, the district court erred by determining "that the State presented the jury with adequate evidence supporting its theory that appellant shot and killed her husband in a fit of anger over his behavior on the night in question." <u>Barnes II</u>, 922 So. 2d at 381 (slip op. at 2).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY PERMITTING THE JURY IN DEFENDANT'S SECOND TRIAL TO TAKE A TRANSCRIPT OF DEFENDANT'S TESTIMONY FROM THE FIRST TRIAL INTO THE JURY ROOM DURING DELIBERATIONS.

A. Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 514-15 (Fla. 2005).

B. General Prohibition Against Juror Access to Transcripts

Under Florida law, the jury is not permitted to take transcripts of depositions or transcripts of live testimony presented during trial into the jury room during deliberations. <u>See Young v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 965, 967 (Fla. 1994); Janson v. <u>State</u>, 730 So. 2d 734, 734-35 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), rev. denied, 767 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 2000); <u>St. Azile v. King Motor Ctr., Inc.</u>, 407 So. 2d 1096, 1098 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); <u>Gills v. Angelis</u>, 312 So. 2d 536, 537 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), <u>cert.</u> denied, 330 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1976); <u>Schoeppl v. Okolowitz</u>, 133 So. 2d 124, 126-27 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961). This rule prevents the jury from placing undue emphasis on the transcript over the witness's oral testimony and other evidence presented during trial. <u>See Young</u>, 645 So. 2d at 966-67; Janson, 730 So. 2d at 734.

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