IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHANA BARNES,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC06-662

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

People v. Caldwell, 236 N.E.2d 706, 714 (III. 1968)

The majority of jurisdictions follow this rule, distinguishing written confessions from other written forms of evidence, such as depositions, see generally Jonathan M. Purver, Annotation, Permitting Documents or Tape Recordings Containing Confessions of Guilt or Incriminating Admissions to be Taken Into Jury Room in Criminal Case, 37 A.L.R. 3d 238 (1971). While allowing jurors access to written confessions carries the same risk as deposition that the written statements might be given "undue emphasis beyond the scope of ordinary testimony," the risk is deemed outweighed by the nature of the evidence.

Many jurisdictions have specifically applied this rule to admitted under the transcriptions of statements hearsay exception regarding admissions by the defendant. See United States v. Camargo, 908 F.2d 179, 182 (7th Cir. 1990) (Trial court did not err by permitting the transcripts of taperecorded conversations to be used during jury deliberations); State v. Kennedy, 592 P.2d 1288, 1293 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1979) (Trial court did not err in allowing the jurors to take the transcripts of the audiotapes admitted as admissions of defendants into the jury room); People v. Fujita, 117 Cal. Rptr. 757, 768 (Cal. Ct. App. 1974)(Trial court did not err permitting the jury to take transcripts of tape-recorded phone conversations that admitted as admissions of were t.he defendants); People v. Miller, 829 P.2d 443 (Colo. App. 1991) (Transcript of a defendant's confession, which has been admitted into evidence, may be taken into the jury room during deliberations so long as the defense is given an opportunity to point out any circumstances that may undermine its credibility); Holloway v. State, 809 So.2d 598, 608 (Miss. 2000) (Trial court did not err in allowing a transcript of an audiotaped recording of the defendant's statement to be taken into the jury room during deliberations); State v. Ahmadjian, 438 A.2d 1070, 1082 (R.I. 1981)(Trial court did not err in allowing transcripts of

conversations that were the product of wiretaps and electronic surveillance to be used by the jury during their deliberations once they have been properly admitted as a full exhibit); Bigham v. State, 148 S.W.2d 835, 840 (1941)(Transcribed notes of a conversation which allegedly occurred at the time a bribe was made, admitted without objection as a State's exhibit, were properly furnished to the jury upon request); Forrester, 587 P.2d 179, 185-86 (Wash. Ct. App. 1978), approved, State v. Frazier, 661 P.2d 126 (Wash. 1983)(Trial court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted a typed transcript of the defendant's tape-recorded confession and allowed the jury to examine the transcript during their deliberations, along with the tape-recording itself); State v. Dietz, 390 S.E.2d 15, 28-29 (W. Va. 1990)("[I]n a criminal case it is not reversible error for a trial court to allow a document, such as a transcript, a written statement, or a tape recording, which contains a confession or incriminating statement, and which has already been admitted into evidence, to be taken into the jury room for the jury's use during deliberations").

Petitioner cites <u>Fuller v. United States</u>, 873 A.2d 1108, 1117-1118 (D.C. 2005), for the proposition that transcripts of trial testimony cannot be given to the jury. While it is unclear whether the government in <u>Fuller</u> attempted to admit the

transcripts as admissions pursuant to the hearsay exception, the State acknowledges that some jurisdictions find that the risk that the jury might give undue weight to a transcribed admission does outweigh the legitimate reasons for permitting them into the jury room. The Fuller court argued that the "risk that the jury might give undue weight to some testimony because it is available in transcript form over jurors' recollection of other, untranscribed trial testimony is heightened where the transcript is of the testimony of the defendant, because a defendant's admissions normally carry particular force with a jury." Fuller To the extent that the Fuller court is explicitly applying this principle to prior statement admitted admissions of a criminal defendant, the State contends that this reasoning is at odds with the majority of jurisdictions, as expressed by the Illinois Supreme Court in People v. Caldwell. The acknowledged risk that a jury may "give undue weight to some testimony because it is available in transcript form over jurors' recollection of other" is properly deemed subordinate to the legitimate purposes for admitting transcripts of defendants' confessions. This court should not adopt the reasoning of Fuller.

The cases above apply the exception set forth in <u>Young</u> to permit the jury to take exhibits of transcripts of statements

that have been admitted as admissions of the defendant into the jury room. The District Court below reached the same conclusion here. Obviously, the form of the exhibit admitted here was not a typical transcribed admission of a defendant. However, the State asserts that the basis for the admission of Petitioner's prior testimony in evidence controls its proper use as an exhibit, rather than the form of the evidence. The reasoning set forth in People v. Caldwell, supra, as well as the other cases cited above, does not become inapplicable merely because the defendant's admission was made at a prior trial. The rule permitting such admissions into the jury room should not depend on the form of the admission.

In any event, while Petitioner's admissions were made in the course of trial testimony, nothing about the presentation of the evidence to the jury indicated that it was a trial transcript. The trial court took great care to conceal the fact that the admissions came during a trial proceeding. This bears no resemblance to <u>Janson v. State</u>, 730 So.2d 734 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), where the court simply allowed the jury to read the transcripts of the testimony of two of the trial witnesses. The District court correctly recognized this key distinction.

Although relegated to a footnote in the initial brief, Petitioner does specifically address the fact that this case

involves a defendant's recorded admissions, arguing that "a transcript of a tape recorded statement played to the jury is admissible in evidence for the jury's use not during deliberations," citing Grimes v. State, 244 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1971); Waddy v. State, 355 So.2d 477 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); and Duggan v. State, 189 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966 (IB 20). These cases do not apply here. Those cases concerned authentication of questionable transcripts which may or may not have accurately reflected the statements, under the "best evidence rule." This concern is not present here.

Because the exhibit was admitted as an admission of the defendant, the general rule disallowing transcripts does not apply. For this reason, Janson v. State, supra; St. Azile v. King Motor Ctr., Inc., 407 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Gills v. Angelis, 312 So.2d 536 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); and Schoeppl v. Okolowitz, 133 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961); do not apply and do not conflict with the District Court's ruling. As noted, Janson involved a court permitting the jury to read the transcripts of the testimony of two of the trial witnesses. St. Azile, Gills, and Schoeppl all involve depositions taken in civil cases. None relate to the issue in this matter. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.400 specifically prohibits depositions from going to the jury room. Many of the jurisdictions which permit

transcripts of defendant confessions likewise prohibit the use of depositions in the jury room. See e.g. Holloway v. State, supra. The fact that Florida likewise prohibits depositions in the jury room does not alter this conclusion. The decision below conflicts with none of these rulings.

Nor do the decisions from other jurisdictions Petitioner cites compel a different ruling. In State v. Solomon, 87 P.2d 807 (Utah 1939), the district attorney used the transcript from an earlier trial to impeach a witness, and then asked for those portions of the transcript to be given to the jury. Instead, the court merely gave the jury the entire trial transcript with "slips" indicating the relevant testimony. Obviously, the trial transcript was not admitted as an admission of the defendant. Portions of the transcript had been used to impeach a witness (not the defendant). This ruling has no bearing on the issue presented here.

State v. Carter, 888 P.2d 629 (Utah 1994), concerned a constitutional challenge to a state statute which declared that "all exhibits and a transcript of all testimony and other evidence properly admitted in the prior trial and sentencing proceedings" are admissible in a remanded capital sentencing proceedings. Id. At 641. Such transcripts were admissible

¹ The State addressed <u>Fuller v. United States</u>, <u>supra</u>, above.

without any basis supporting their admissibility. This case has no bearing on a situation where the transcript reflects a statement of the defendant which is admitted solely because it constitutes an admission.

In conclusion, transcripts of admissions of a criminal defendant, unlike other transcripts, may be taken by the jury to the jury room. The trial court applied this correct rule to the transcript at issue here, which was explicitly admitted as an admission of the defendant. The reasons for allowing such evidence apply with equal force to admissions given during the course of a prior trial. For these reasons, the District Court did not err in affirming the trial court's ruling.

Harmless error

Even if this Court determines that the trial court erred in permitting the jury to take the transcript into the jury room, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in this case.

State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). First, the State contends that the transcript was not particularly prejudicial to Petitioner. While the State did use the transcript in closing to point out some minor inconsistencies in Petitioner's statements, a review of the entire transcript shows that it provided Petitioner an excellent opportunity to present her version of the events without subjecting herself to cross-

examination. Like the prosecution, Petitioner made numerous references to the transcript in her closing as well. The jury did not decide this case on Petitioner's testimony from the prior trial.

The second reason why any possible error regarding the transcript is harmless relates to the weakness of Petitioner's defense at trial. The facts adduced at trial showed that Petitioner, who was sitting in an idling car with the garage door up, shot the victim, who was standing outside of the car, in the face. Petitioner claimed that she acted in self-defense, that she used deadly force to prevent not the imminent use of deadly force against her, but to prevent the imminent commission of an "applicable forcible felony" under section 776.041, Florida Statutes. The only "applicable forcible felonies" that Petitioner could present to support her claim that she shot Greg Barnes to prevent the imminent commission of a forcible felony were aggravated assault and felony battery. The State contends that neither of these crimes provides a sufficient basis to support a self-defense claim. Simple logic shows that these two particular felonies should never furnish the basis for a claim of self-defense, and that the evidence here did not support their use as a predicate for a deadly-force claim.

1. Aggravated assault

Aggravated assault is an assault (a) with a deadly weapon without intent to kill; or (b) with an intent to commit a felony. § 784.021, Fla. Stat. "Assault" is an intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to the person of another, coupled with an apparent ability to do so, and doing some act which creates a well-founded fear in such other person that such violence is imminent. § 784.011, Fla. Stat. Using the crime of aggravated assault as a forcible felony for purpose of a use of deadly force in self-defense claim is, to say the least, problematic. First, in order for this defense to prevail, the defendant would have to show not that deadly force was necessary to prevent the imminent commission of death, great bodily harm, or another felony against her, but only that she had to use deadly force to prevent the imminent commission of a threat to her. Petitioner here is saying that she had to shoot Greg Barnes because she believed that he may threaten her (not hurt her, just threaten her). While the State acknowledges that aggravated assault is included in statute that lists forcible felonies, § 776.08, Fla. Stat., the State has been unable to find a single case in Florida jurisprudence where deadly force was deemed to be justified to prevent nothing more than an imminent threat to the defendant. The State attributes this failure to the fact that the premise defies common sense.

Second, even if aggravated assault did furnish a logical basis for a self-defense claim, the evidence failed to support it here. Petitioner admitted that Greg Barnes was unarmed when she shot him, so there is no evidence that he threatened her with a deadly weapon. Moreover, Petitioner failed to identify any felony with which Greg Barnes threatened her, other than felony battery (which is similarly unsupportable, as argued below). In short, there was simply no evidence whatever that Appellant shot Greg Barnes because he was about to commit an unlawful threat against her.

2. Felony battery

Using the crime of felony battery as a predicate for the justifiable use of deadly force may be even more questionable than the crime of aggravated assault. Felony battery is a battery that causes great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement. § 784.041, Fla. Stat. In other words, felony battery is a simple battery that has an aggravated battery result. Felony battery is differentiated from aggravated battery in that aggravated battery requires the defendant to intend great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement; whereas felony battery only requires

that a simple battery result in great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement. See § 784.041.

Felony battery is not included in the list of "forcible felonies" in section 776.041, Florida Statutes. The obvious reason is that felony battery is a crime where the defendant intends only to commit a simple battery but unintentionally causes great bodily harm, etc. Petitioner claimed that felony battery should be classed as a forcible felony because the statute allows for "any other felony which involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against any individual." § 776.08, Fla. Stat. If this statute is read to include all simple batteries that are converted to felonies based on some other circumstance, it would extinguish logical limitations of the use of deadly force in self-defense. A simple battery on a law enforcement officer is a felony. § 784.07(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Under Petitioner's reasoning, a law enforcement officer may use deadly force to prevent the imminent commission of a simple battery upon him or her, because such a battery would be a felony. A simple battery upon a person 65 years of age or older is a felony. § 784.08(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Under Petitioner's reasoning, a person 65 years of age or older may use deadly force to prevent the imminent commission of a simple battery upon him or her, because such a battery would be a felony.

simple battery by a person with a prior battery conviction is a felony. § 784.03(2), Fla. Stat. Under Petitioner's reasoning, a person may use deadly force to prevent a simple battery by a person with a prior battery conviction, because such a battery would be a felony.

In short, Petitioner's self-defense claim was based on extraordinarily flimsy grounds. Under no logical construction of self-defense law could a person seriously claim entitlement to self-defense to prevent the commission of only an aggravated assault or a felony battery. Even if a person could make such a claim, not a shred of evidence supported it. It clearly appears that the trial court here gave the self-defense instruction out of an abundance of caution and not because it was adequately supported by the law or the evidence. Accordingly, even if the transcripts here were erroneously admitted, the admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE II

DID THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERR IN RULING THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTION FOR SECOND-DEGREE MURDER? (Restated)

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